OCT 22 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Supreme Ct. No. 89, L15

4th DCA Case No. 94-2354

DEN1 ASSOCIATES OF FLORIDA, INC.,

L.T. CASE NO. 93-23021-02

Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

STATE FARM CAS. INS. CO.,

Respondent/Appellee.

On appeal from the en banc decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

Amended Initial Brief of Petitioner Deni Associates of Florida, Inc.

> Mager & Associates, P.A. n/k/a (as a result of a merger) Kluger, Peretz, Kaplan & Berlin Seventeenth Floor **Barnett Bank lower** One East Broward Blvd. Fort Lauderdale, FI 33301 Phone (954) 761-1100 Facsimile (954) 761-1138

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This dispute involves the interpretation of language contained in an insurance policy (issued in the State of Florida) and a determination of whether that policy covers losses incurred from a small ammonia spill out of a blueprinting machine located in the office building the insured occupied.

Appellant **Deni** Associates (the insured) was moving its office equipment within the building when the spill occurred. (R. 53-54). The City of **Tamarac** Fire Department was contacted, and when they arrived, the building was evacuated as a precaution. After they removed some carpeting and broke a window (to ventilate the interior atmosphere of the building), they ordered the building evacuated for a short time until the air inside was considered safe to breathe. Several people felt ill from the fumes and sought medical attention. (R. 36-37). A number of personal injury claims were later leveled against **Deni**, whereupon it sought coverage from its liability carrier, State Farm.' (R. 1-3, 53).

Relying on a so-called "pollution exclusion" clause in the policy, State Farm ultimately denied all coverage for this accident, and forced **Deni** to sue in Broward County Circuit Court to determine whether or not the accident was covered under the policy. The Trial Court - on a motion for summary judgment - found that the pollution exclusion to be ambiguous, and that the policy thus covered the accident at issue. (R. 57). State Farm then appealed that decision to the Fourth District Court of Appeals, and in a divided, **en banc** opinion, a five-judge majority **reversed** the decision of the trial court and certified the following question to this Court:

^{&#}x27;The tenants lost the use of the building for a **full** day, and so **Deni** also sought recovery for lost business income. (R. 54).

Where an ambiguity is shown to exist in a CGL policy, is the court limited to resolving the ambiguity in favor of coverage, or may the court apply the doctrine of reasonable expectations of the insured to resolve ambiguities in CGL policies?

State Farm Cas. Ins. Co. v. Deni, 678 So. 2d 379 at 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(Italics in the original).

The insurance policy in which the pollution exclusion is contained is commonly referred to as a "comprehensive general liability" policy (CGL), a type widely purchased by businesses throughout the state of Florida. The "pollution" exclusion in the policy provides that:

BUSINESS LIABILITY EXCLUSIONS

Under Coverage I. (LIABILITY), this insurance does not apply:

to any:

bodily injury, property damage, person injury or advertising injury arising out of the actual, alleged or threatened discharge, seepage, migration, dispersal, spill, release or escape of pollutants:

at or from any premises, site or location which is or was at any time owned or occupied by or rented or loaned to any insured[.]

(R. 43). The definitional section of the policy defines "pollutants" as follows:

pollutants means any solid, liquid, gaseous or thermal irritant or contaminant, including smoke, vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and waste. Waste includes materials to be recycled, reconditioned or reclaimed[.]

The Trial Judge noted that "pollution clauses typically contemplate *long-term* environmental degradation" or, at the very least, "an environment-wide exposure to extremely hazardous or toxic substances." (R. 56). The Trial Judge also pointed out that many of the recent judicial decisions which have <u>enforced pollution-exclusion</u> clauses have been those which have involved very specific language excluding only those claims which result from "sudden and accidental" discharges. <u>Citing Claussen v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.</u>, 865 F.2d 1217 (1 lth Cir. 1989), and a number of law review articles, the Court found that State Farm's overly-broad definition of the term pollutant was not

specific enough, and that the company had "stretched] the definition of the term 'pollutant' far beyond what a reasonable person placed in the position of the insured would have understood the word to mean." As such, the Court concluded, the term was ambiguous. (R. 53-58).

Upon finding the language in the policy to be "ambiguous," the Trial Judge next applied the traditional rules of insurance policy construction by construing the ambiguous exclusion *in favor* of the insured, and found that the ammonia spill was covered by the policy. The trial court concluded that:

The terms of [STATE FARM's] exclusionary clauses are ambiguous and susceptible to more than one meaning. The interpretation of the instrument leaves one genuinely uncertain as to which meaning is proper. Where the terms of the policy of insurance are ambiguous, uncertain, conflicting, or susceptible to more than one meaning, the construction most favorable to the insured must prevail.

(R. 56). In fact, after finding that the pollution exclusion clause to be capable of more than one meaning, the Trial Court had <u>no choice</u> but to rule in favor of coverage. (R. 57-58). As such, the Trial Court correctly granted **DENI's** Motion For Summary Judgment, and made no error when it ruled that the ambiguous language in the policy must be read so as to provide **Deni** with coverage. (R 53-58). Indeed, the fact that <u>both</u> the Trial Judge <u>and</u> <u>Deni</u> believed the exclusion to mean one

Magnus, Clearing Muddy Waters: Anatomy of the Comprehensive General Pollution Exclusion, 75 Cornell L. Rev. 6 10 (1990) (intent of the drafters of the standard pollution exclusion clause is far from obvious • the explanation of the intended scope is particularly murky as to intent to apply the exclusion to unintentional releases or unintentional damages); Peters, Insurance Coverage for Superfund Liability: A Plain Meaning Approach to the Pollution Exclusion Clause. 27 Washburn L.J. 161 (1987) (numerous jurisdictions have held terms contained in standard CGL policy and pollution exclusion clause are ambiguous); Rosenkranz, The Pollution Exclusion Clause Through the Looking Glass, 74 Georgetown L.J. 1237 (1986) (most courts impose insurers with coverage when insured neither expected nor intended ultimate loss, even though loss may have arisen out of intentional act).

thing • and State Farm believed it to mean another - is evidence that the pollution exclusion clause at issue was ambiguous.

Further, when State Farm then appealed the trial court's decision, Court of Appeal, *en banc*, reversed with a divided Court.³ The Judges at the Fourth District found the provision to have several different meanings, and yet the majority still held the provision at issue to be unambiguous. <u>See generally Deni</u>, 678 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

In order to enable <u>this</u> Court to decide the issue of ambiguity on these facts and to decide whether the doctrine of reasonable expectations is recognized law in this jurisdiction, like in many others, the Fourth District Court certified the foregoing question. This Court, which conditionally accepted jurisdiction, may now review the entire case, rule on the facts here and settle this issue for all courts within the state of Florida.

³Only six of eleven judges at the Fourth District (Judges Farmer, Gunther, Glickstein, Stevenson, Shahood and Warner) believed the exclusion to be unambiguous. Three judges (Klein, Polen and Pariente) considered the exclusion to be ambiguous "as applied" and two more judges (Judges Stone and Dell) concluded that the provision is ambiguous on the facej u d g e (Warner) might have applied the "reasonable expectations" test if she believed that this Court had authorized it. Judge Gross recused himself.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

The Trial Court correctly found the language in the pollution exclusion to be ambiguous. In the same regard, the six-judge majority at the Fourth District Court of Appeals erred by holding that the provision is unambiguous as a matter of law. The facts, the law, and common sense itself all dictate that the losses attributable to this accident are covered under State Farm's "comprehensive" insurance policy, and this is true <u>despite</u> the existence of the overly-broad exclusionary terms it contains. The language of this particular pollution exclusion, is clearly susceptible to more than one "reasonable interpretation" and, if read as expansively as State Farm suggests, its reach would extend <u>far</u> beyond its intended purpose. In fact, the existence of this ambiguity is confirmed by the fact that a good number of judges in this state (including those involved in this very case) cannot themselves agree on its meaning.

The broadly-worded language of the provision should not be read literally to produce the sort of absurd result State Farm champions here. Courts in other jurisdictions have found little difficulty in limiting the reach of these so-called "absolute" exclusions, and have in fact found similar provisions to apply only in situations which involve a general (and substantial) toxic exposure, or a significant amount of environmental degradation - not a minor office spill of ammonia from a blueprint machine. In fact, the insurance industry <code>itself</code> has acknowledged that it never intended this sort of pollution exclusion to be read as broadly as was done by the six-judge majority at the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Alternatively, this particular clause • when read with the "reasonable expectations" of the typical insured in mind • should be interpreted to provide coverage under the facts of this particular case. In fact, it may not be necessary for the Court to find that such exclusions are ambiguous • as

a matter of law • in order to find coverage in this sort of case. The Court, by looking at the provision from Deni's position • as a "reasonable" insured • should be able to conclude that the provision is "ambiguous as applied" or it can simply apply the so-called "reasonable expectations doctrine," and conclude that Deni's "subjective" expectations (of coverage) were entirely "reasonable." Under either analysis, the result is the same: The accident is covered.

Indeed, Florida insurers should have the responsibility to state with specificity just what activities they intend to exclude from coverage, and particularly so when those activities are clearly within the normal scope of activities the Company knows its insured will be regularly engaged. To allow State Farm to deny coverage for claims which arose out of the movement of a blueprint machine across the hall would foster an "unreasonable" interpretation of the policy language, and render this insurance policy almost useless to **Deni**. Common sense and the "reasonable expectations" of the insured dictate no less.

In light of the provision's ambiguity, and the reasonableness of affording coverage in these circumstances, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative (or find the pollution exclusion ambiguous as applied to the particular facts of this case), reinstate the Trial Court decision in favor of **Deni**, and remand the case back for further proceedings consistent with those rulings.

ARGUMENT

I. THE POLLUTION EXCLUSION IS AMBIGUOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW

The Trial Court properly applied the fundamental rules of insurance contract law in concluding that the pollution exclusion clause was ambiguous (R. 53-58).

Under Florida law, the trial court must construe an insurance contract it its entirety, striving to give every provision meaning and effect. Associated Elec. & Gas Ins. Servs., Ltd. v, Houston Oil and Gas Co., 552 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). To further this goal, the terms contained in an insurance contract must be given their plain, unambiguous and common meaning. Old Dominion Ins. Co. v. Elysee, Inc., 601 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). It is generally accepted that where the policy language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for judicial construction and the policy is to be enforced as written. Great Global Assur. Co. v. Shoemaker, 599 So. 2d 1036 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Where the terms employed in an insurance policy are ambiguous, however, the courts are to strictly construe the language against the insurer and in favor of voverage.

Mean against the insurer and in favor of voverage.

Mean against the insurer and in favor of voverage.

Mean against the insurer and in favor of voverage.

Mean against the insurer and in favor of the insured.

Mean against the courts are to strictly construe the language of an insurance policy against the insured.

Mean against the insured against the insured against the insured against the language of an insurance contract can be considered ambiguous, which then requires that the language be construed in favor of the insured, See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.

Co. v. Pridgen, 498 So. 2d I245 (Fla. 1986); Harnett v. Southern Ins. Co., 181 So. 2d 524 (Fla.

1965); Sterling v. City of West Palm Beach, 595 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Where, as in the case at bar, the question of coverage turns on the meaning of an exclusionary clause, it is firmly established that such provisions are to be construed even more strictly than coverage clauses. See, e.g., Triano v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 565 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Perhaps most importantly, it is the insurance company which has the burden of proving that any given accident is excluded from coverage under a particular provision. B & S Assocs. Inc. v. Indemnity Casualty & Property. Ltd., 641 So.2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

In light of these various rules of construction, it is clear from the record that State Farm did not meet its burden before the Trial Court, and that it was unable • as it is today • to dispute the fact that this particular provision is "reasonably" susceptible to at least more than one interpretation.

One of those interpretations • the one that State Farm now champions • is that the provision excludes <u>all</u> damage of all kind whatsoever • caused by a grocery list of items collected under the broad term of "pollutants." At least <u>one</u> alternative meaning • that the one offered by <u>Deni</u> (and ultimate accepted by the Trial Court and several Judges at the Fourth District) • suggests that this provision was only meant to include "pollutants" in its normal connotation, and was not meant to cover this small chemical spill from an office blueprint machine.

Deni certainly understands that the terms of an insurance contract may be subject to different interpretations, and that - particularly when the question is one of coverage - courts should not strain or resort to unnatural constructions in order to create ambiguity. Weldon v. All American Life Ins. Co., 605 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Jefferson Ins. Co. of New York v. Sea World of Florida, Inc., 586 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). However, it is still true - as is supported by the law in this State - that insurance contracts are to be read in light of the skill and experience of reasonable,

"ordinary" people, and given their everyday meaning as understood by the "man on the street." Lindheimer v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 643 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), rev. denied, 65 1 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1995). Thus, while it certainly is plausible - as State Farm has contended at both the trial level and at the Fourth District Court of Appeal - that this broadly-worded provision can be literally construed so as to exclude from coverage all damage which might arise out of "release" of any "chemical" no matter how small, and no matter whether it falls into the "normal" concept of "pollution." It is also quite plausible, however - and, in fact, highly probable - that Deni, as a "reasonable" insurance consumer, might have construed the provision to mean that the term "pollutant" and "pollution" took on a more practical, "everyday" definition. In other words, the word "pollutant," to Deni, as a reasonable insured, does not include the accidental spilling of such a small amount of ammonia from an office blueprint machine, the same way it does not include an injury caused to one of Deni's customers who might slip on some orange juice spilt on the floor (i.e., as a "release" of "liquid" containing "acid"). The Trial Court (and the Record) clearly supports the more practical interpretation of the language in the exclusion, under which only those accidents which result in substantial or long-term environmental degradation, or, at the very least, an environmentwide exposure to extremely hazardous or toxic substances." (R 56).

The Trial Court applied the traditional rules of policy construction (i.e., that exclusionary provisions are to be strictly construed, with any ambiguities resolved in <u>favor</u> of coverage), and construed the language in the policy as would have been done by any reasonable insurance consumer in **Deni's** position - that it excluded only that sort of damage which might be caused by substantial release of some toxic otherwise or harmful substance a release of which "generally" results in long-term harm to either people or the environment, and not through some form of "special" circumstance

of exposure. (R. 57-58). See Infmitv Yachts. Inc. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 655 So. 2d 1259, 1261 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Pridgen, 498 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1986); Harnett, 181 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 1965); Sterling, S596 So.t 2d 284 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)u n a b l e t o s h o w a spill of ammonia like this would result in general long-term harm, and not only in "special" or substantial exposure to the environment - as was its burden under Florida law - summary judgment in favor of coverage for DEN1 was appropriate, and the majority of the Fourth District Court erred when it reversed that decision. (R. 58, 78-79). See B&S Assoc.. Inc. v. Indemnitv Cas. and Prop., Ltd., 641 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

Indeed, in adhering to traditional rules of insurance contract construction, the Trial Court properly determined that the exclusion, was susceptible to at least two reasonable interpretations, and was thus ambiguous as a matter of law. (R. 56). See Sterling, 595 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Moreover, in reaching this decision, the Trial Court did not read the language of the exclusion in a "vacuum," as STATE FARM would have had it do. Instead, it read the exclusion in such a manner as to give it a reasonable, practical, and sensible interpretation, one that was consistent with the "plain" meaning of the language used, and with the obvious intent of the parties.

See Weldon v. All American Life Ins. Co., 605 So, 2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); American Man. Ins. Co. v. Horn, 353 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

As the Court's decision and trial record amply illustrate, the spill of ammonia in **DENI's** office is not the sort of situation that can be fairly characterized as constituting "substantial," "widespread," or "industrial" pollution (all of which would be properly excluded under the more reasonable construction of the Policy). Instead, the small ammonia spill here was no more than a minor office mishap which arose out of **Deni's** everyday business; it was extremely short-lived

(lasting only a few hours), left no "long term" adverse environmental effects, and was completely dissipated by the very next business day. This was no "pollutant," and Deni caused no "pollution." It must be stressed that State Farm knew of the precise nature of DENI's business when it issued the Policy. The company should not now be permitted to exclude an accident as environmentally benign as the small chemical spill involving DENI's office blue-print machine. If State Farm wished to exclude this sort of minor office-equipment accident from its commercial insurance policies as "pollution," it should have expressly stated so, rather than relying on this unreasonably broad interpretation of the word "pollutant," it now champions, a word which has come to have its own meaning to the "reasonable insured," the so-called "man on the street." Whether this flawed drafting is considered negligent or intentional, it should be fatal to its overbroad construction of the term.

See Westchester, 768 F. Supp. at 1471 (insurer has the duty to exclude with specificity any activity it wishes to exclude which it knows its insured is likely to engage in); Tufco Flooring, 409 S.E.2d at 697 ("[t]o allow [an insurer) to deny coverage for claims arising out of [its insured's] central business activity would render the policy virtually useless to Tufco").4

The pollution exclusion provides:

We do not insure for loss either consisting of, or directly and immediately caused by one or more of the following:

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