763

In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. 89,115

FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 1 = 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ohief Deptity Clerk

DENI ASSOCIATES OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GREEN & ACKERMAN, P.A.
315 Southeast Seventh Street, Suite 200
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

-andRUSSO & TALISMAN, P.A.
Suite 200 1, Terremark Centre
2601 South Bayshore Drive
Miami, Florida 33 133
Telephone (305) 859-8100

Attorneys for Respondent State Farm Fire & Casualty Insurance Company

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

678 So. 2d at 401.

It is this choice between the plain language rule and judicial rewriting that is the crux of this case, A recent commentator aptly posed the alternatives, drawing from Carroll's Through the Looking Glass:

"When I use a word," Humpty Dumpty said, in a rather scornful tone, "it means just what I choose it to mean-neither more nor less."

"The question is," said Alice, "whether you can make words mean so many different things."

'The question is," said Humpty Dumpty, "which is to be **master**—that's all."

E. Joshua Rosenkranz, Note, The Pollution *Exclusion* Through the Looking *Glass*, 74 Geo. L. J. 1237 (1986), quoting Lewis Carroll, Through the Looking *Glass* 94 (1946). Florida law has always been firm in holding that in the case of plain policy language, the *language* will be master — not the courts."

¹⁰The opinion says "pollution", but obviously "pollutants" was intended as that is the defined term in the policy and the Court is referring to definitions,

[&]quot;See, e.g., cases cited in note 9, supra.

We submit that Florida should continue to follow that rule.

2. Decisions in accord with the Fourth District's determination that the pollution exclusion is plainly-worded and will be given effect as written

Courts in other jurisdictions recognize the plain language of the pollution exclusion as master, as did the Fourth District here. These courts have properly applied the absolute pollution exclusion as written to all occurrences falling within its clear terms, resisting arguments that the court should be master and modify or limit the exclusion in various ways and contexts to reach desired results in individual cases.

Since Petitioner and amici seek to draw a distinction between cases involving 'major industrial polluters' and cases involving 'others' (as discussed below, no usable, recognizable parameters have been offered by the courts, Petitioner, or amici to define the groups on either side of the distinction), all of the cases reviewed in this section involve mishaps of one sort or another occurring during the activities of a variety of types of businesses *other* than what might be considered 'major industrial polluters,' such as industries whose operations inherently require discharges of hazardous waste or large scale use of toxic chemicals.

The — not 'major-industrial-polluters' — insureds in these cases attacked the pollution exclusion with the same types of arguments raised by Petitioner and amici here. One of the arguments is that the **definition** of pollutants should not be given effect because (1) it is not the same as the 'common' definition of pollutants, and/or it does not comport with **scientific** or statutory **definitions** of pollutants, or (2) it can include normally harmless substances. Another argument is that the exclusion should be allowed to apply only in a certain category of cases although — as detailed more fully in another section of the brief — there is very little agreement on what that category should be or how to describe and/or recognize it (i.e., descriptions vary from case to case in

saying the exclusion should apply only to 'actual polluters'; or only to 'industrial' or 'industry-related activities; or only to 'traditional environmental pollution'; or only to 'those who indifferently pollute our environment — and not to those who only incidentally possess the pollutant in the course of their business'; etc., etc.). There is also an argument that the exclusion should only apply to spills, dispersals, releases, etc. 'into the environment', which is argued to mean 'outdoors'.

In the face of these arguments, the courts in all of the cases discussed here — and again they are part of a body of cases which represents by far the majority view — have steadfastly adhered to the plain language rule. The plain language does not contain all of the qualifications, modifications, and restrictions argued by the insureds, so these courts properly refused to write them in after the fact.

a. The policy definition of "pollutants" is clear, so other definitions are irrelevant

Under Florida law, as the Fourth District appropriately pointed out below, if a policy provides a clear **definition** of a term, that definition will be followed. **Deni** Associates, 678 So. 2d at 401. See **also**, e.g., Grunt **v**. State Farm Fire **& Casualty** Co., 638 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 1994); **Dorrell v**. State **Farm** Fire **&** Casualty Co., 221 So. 2d **5** (Fla. 3d DCA 1969).

Two recent federal decisions discussed the clarity of the subject **definition** of "pollutants", and the corollary conclusion that its plain **language** precludes further consideration of either 'courts' notions' as to the usual meaning of the word "pollutants" or 'common notions' as to what it means. **American States** Insurance Co. **v. Nethery**, 79 **F.3d** 473 (5th Cir. 1996); **Brown v.** American Motorists Insurance Co., 930 F. Supp. 207 (E.D. Pa. 1996).

In *Nethery, supra*, a company was hired to perform some home repairs, including painting portions of interior walls and **replacing** sections of floors. The homeowner had 'chemical

hypersensitivity,' and thus said she had asked that certain special paints and glues be used, The company's employee instead used industry-standard paint and glue containing chemicals which the homeowner claimed injured her and caused her to lose use of part of her home. She sued the repair company, which made a demand on its insurance carrier for coverage and a defense under a CGL policy with an identical pollution exclusion to that contained in the State Farm policy here.

The insured argued, and the district court held, that the exclusion was ambiguous because the "pollutants" definition's reference to "irritant" should not be read to include paint and glue fumes which do not normally inflict injury. The Fifth Circuit reversed holding that the exclusion clearly and unambiguously defined "pollutants," and just as clearly and unambiguously excluded coverage for the incident sued upon:

We agree with American States; the **absolute pollution** exclusion does unambiguously **exclude coverage for Nethery's claim.** "Pollutant" is a **defined term** in the **policy.** Whether the **policy definition** comports with this court's notion of the usual meaning of "pollutants" is not the issue; the court has no special expertise in writing insurance policies. Our judgment about the reasonable scope of a pollution exclusion — in the absence of ambiguity — must be tied to the language of the policy. Nethery contends she suffered bodily injury and property damage from the "discharge, dispersal . . . release or escape of pollutants . . . at or from any premises on which the insured [was] working." "Pollutants" is defined in the policy as "any . . . gaseous . . . irritant or contaminant, including . , , vapor . . , fumes . . . [and] chemicals." The paint and glue fumes fall under the definition of gaseous substances, vapors, and fumes, while the [main chemical ingredient] in the paint and glue is plainly a chemical.

79 **F.3d** at 475-476.

In Brown v. American Motorists Insurance Co., 930 F. Supp. 207 (E.D. Pa. 1996), a homeowner applied a chemical waterproofing sealant to the brick exterior of her home. According to her and her husband, fumes from the sealant then migrated into the interior of their home causing them such physical discomfort that it was necessary for them to vacate their home. They sued their

homeowners insurer, who denied the claim on the basis of the pollution exclusion. The court held that the claim fell "squarely within the pollution exclusion," 930 F. Supp. at 206, which the court found clear and unambiguous.

The homeowners argued that the noxious fumes were not "pollutants" because they came "from an **over-the-shelf** product used in an everyday activity" and that a "common sense understanding of the term pollutants . . . [would] not include such fumes." 930 F. Supp. at 208. That argument was rejected by the court because the policy contained a clear and unambiguous definition of "pollutants" such that the court could not and would not replace it with a 'common meaning' or 'common understanding':

Plaintiffs argue that the noxious fumes that made their home unlivable were not "pollutants" under the pollution exclusion because the fumes came from an **over-the-shelf** product, used in an everyday activity. Essentially, **Plaintiffs' position is that a common sense understanding of** the term pollutants, as reasonably understood by **Plaintiffs,** does not include the fumes here.

Whether or not fumes from a household product would commonly be understood as a pollutant is not the issue, however. The term pollutant is defined in the policy to include solid, liquid and gaseous irritants and contaminants, including fumes and vapors. This definition is clear and unambiguous, and includes the fumes that Plaintiffs claim caused them sufficient irritation to make them vacate their home. See Madison Constr. Co., 1996 WL 338810, at *3 (finding fumes from commonly used sealant a pollutant under similarly worded pollution exclusion). Where a term is clearly and unambiguously defined in a policy, the Court will not substitute a common definition of the term for the definition contained in the policy.

930 F. Supp. at 208.

Also refusing to deviate from the plainly-worded policy definition, American States Insurance Co. v. F.H.S., Inc., 843 F. Supp. 187 (S.D. Miss. 1994) made it clear that neither will the policy definition be replaced with scientific or statutory/regulatory definitions. In F.H.S., the insured

owned and operated a cold storage warehouse. A cooling system malfunctioned, and ammonia leaked into the warehouse and the surrounding area, As a result of the ammonia leak, various people in the vicinity of the warehouse were overcome by the ammonia fumes and taken to local hospitals. They thereafter made personal injury claims against the insured, who then sought coverage under a CGL policy with a pollution exclusion identical to that contained in the State Farm policy here. The court held that both the exclusion and the definition were clear and unambiguous; that ammonia was clearly a pollutant as defined by the policy; and that coverage was plainly excluded from claims arising from the ammonia leakage incident. Id. at 189-190.

The F.H.S. court — in a discussion directly on point for this case — noted that where, as here, **uncontroverted** facts show the release of ammonia at the insured's premises causing respiratory irritation to persons exposed to the ammonia, the pollution exclusion is clearly applicable:

There is no question here but that the injuries for which claims have been made against F.H.S. are based on an incident involving the "escape or release of' ammonia "from [a] premises, site or location which . . . was . . , owned by [an] insured." The issue, then, is whether ammonia is a pollutant within the meaning of that term as defined by the policy. The policy defines "pollutants" to include any "gaseous . . . irritant or contaminant, including smoke, vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and waste." It is undisputed that ammonia is a gaseous substance. And it is specifically claimed by those alleging that they were injured by ammonia release that experienced respiratory irritation as a result of exposure to the ammonia which escaped from F.H.S.'s warehouse.

843 F. Supp. at 189 (court's emphasis). The F.H.S. court then went on to discuss — and reject — the argument by the warehouse owner that the court, "for purposes of evaluating the disputed exclusion, should **define** the term pollution as environmental engineers do, i.e., in quantitative **limits**; or as it is defined by state law, i.e., 'environmental pollution;' or that it should **define** pollution as 'others' do, i.e., as a violation of federal or state environmental quantity laws." Id. The court noted

that it could not rewrite the policy exclusion because there was nothing ambiguous about it:

F.H.S. asks that this court, in essence, ignore the policy definition of "pollutants" or, perhaps more accurately, limit the term so that it is defined in the manner employed by environmental engineers, and thereby create coverage not provided by the policy, The court reiterates that it is not free to rewrite the terms of the insurance contract where that contract is not ambiguous. In this case, regardless of what is or might be a preferable definition from F.H.S.'s standpoint, or what would be the definition of choice from [an environmental engineer expert's] perspective, or the perspective of the scientific community, the policy definition of "pollutant," and the pollution exclusion construed as a whole is clear and unambiguous. The claims that have been asserted against F.H.S. fall well within the exclusion.

843 F. Supp. at 190. Thus, scientific, environmental, and statutory definitions will also not be used to rework the policy definition, since it is clear on its **own.**¹²

For purposes of the instant case, we note that the policy definition of "pollutants" has been held unambiguously to include ammonia leaks and spills which cause respiratory injuries to persons exposed to the ammonia fumes not only in F.H.S., *supra*, but also in Bituminous *Casualty Corp. v. RPS* Co., 915 F. Supp. 882 (N.D. Ky. 1996). The RPS case involved a company that services

¹²Any such reworking of, or substitution for, the policy definition would not help Deni Associates here in any event. Florida's Pollutant Discharge Prevention and Control Act categorizes ammonia as a 'pollutant'. \$376.03 1(16), Fla. Stat. The Federal Clean Air Act categorizes ammonia as an extremely hazardous substance, the release of which is known to have serious adverse effects to human health. 42 U.S.C. §7412(r)(3). The Environmental Protection Agency designates ammonia as a hazardous substance under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 33 U.S.C. §1251; §1317(a), §1321(b)(2)(A); 40 C.F.R. §116.4. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration designates ammonia as a toxic and hazardous substance which causes air contamination. 29 U.S.C. §655; 29 C.F.R. ~1910.1000. The Food and Drug Administration categorizes ammonia as a caustic poison under the Federal Hazardous Substances Act. 15 U.S.C. \$1261; 21 C.F.R. **§2.110.** The Consumer Product Safety Commission found that the labeling regulations of the Federal Hazardous Substances Act were not sufficient for certain substances such as ammonia — the Commission now requires that ammonia also be labeled as a 'poison', not merely a hazardous substance. 15 U.S.C. \$1261; 16 C.F.R. \$1500.129. The Department of Transportation likewise designates ammonia as a hazardous substance and prescribes specific shipping requirements for purposes of transportation safety. 49 C.F.R. \$172,101, \$173.304; 46 C.F.R. \$154.1700, 8154.1760.

ammonia refrigeration systems whose employee, through a mishap, released ammonia into a customer's hog processing plant, As a result "the plant was evacuated by health and emergency officials for about 3% hours, a few [plant] employees required medical treatment, and many hog carcasses were condemned by the United States Department of Agriculture." 915 F. Supp. at 883. Claims were then brought against the service company for personal injury and property losses arising from the ammonia release. The insurance company denied coverage on the basis of a pollution exclusion identical to State Farm's here. The insured claimed there were ambiguities in the exclusion, but the *RPS* court could find none:

We examined the terms of the exclusion and found no ambiguity. The policy exclusion is what it purports to be, an exclusion of liability based upon, inter *alia*, the release of pollutants.

915 F. Supp. at 884. The court said that ammonia, as a liquid or gaseous irritant and contaminant, was a pollutant within the policy definition, and that the insured had not contested that the damages claimed arose from the release of ammonia in the plant, Plainly then, the court concluded, there was no coverage.

Not only have the courts rejected arguments that the **plain** language of the policy's definition of "pollutants" should be judicially replaced with common, **scientific**, statutory or other definitions, but they have also rejected arguments that the definition should be held ambiguous because of overbreadth since it can potentially include substances that are ordinarily harmless or harmless if used properly. For example, the Fifth Circuit in *Nethery*, *supra*, rejected an 'eggshell **plaintiff' argument**¹³ that the paint and glue fumes used in the hypersensitive **plaintiff's** home should

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